ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

RAPHAEL LAMAR PONTOO,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000323

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DONALD L. MCCUNE, JR.
Associate Attorney

Savage Law Firm
15 Prioleau Street
Charleston, SC 2940
(843) 720-7470

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
SEP 13 2016
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err when it required the appellant to prove his duress defense by a preponderance of the evidence, as contemplated by *Dixon v. United States*, 548 U.S. 1 (2006), despite the fact that the duress defense negates one of the statutory elements of the crime?

2. Did the trial court err when it allowed the State to use the appellant's silence after invoking the protections of *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), to impeach the appellant's testimony in his defense, in contravention of *Doyle v. Ohio*, 426 U.S. 10 (1976)?

3. Did the trial court err by allowing a victim who had 1) never identified the appellant as the suspect in an investigatory photo array, and 2) had in fact identified a person *other* than the appellant as the most likely suspect, to observe the appellant while seated at the defense table and then identify him as the suspect, despite the fact over one year had passed since he could have possibly viewed the appellant, creating a violation of the strictures of *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188 (1972)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

From January 26, 2015, through January 28, 2015, appellant Raphael Pontoo was tried in the Circuit Court of South Carolina, in the County of Lexington, on two felony counts. The first count alleged was Armed Robbery in violation of S.C. Code Ann. §16-11-330 (1976); the second was Failure to Stop for a Blue Light Resulting in

Death, in contravention of S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-750 (1976). After jury selection, the court held two pretrial hearings outside the presence of the jury. The first hearing was conducted to determine voluntariness and permitted use of statements under the standards of *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368 (1964). The second was held to ascertain whether an in court identification of Pontoo by the alleged victim of the armed robbery would be permissible under the scheme adopted by *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188 (1972). The court made preliminary findings on both these evidentiary questions and the case proceeded to trial.

During the trial, as reflected in his pretrial hearing rulings, the trial court judge permitted the State to impeach Pontoo with his post-*Miranda* warning silence. Additionally, the court permitted the purported victim of the armed robbery to make an in-court identification of Pontoo as the perpetrator of the armed robbery, despite the fact that in the pretrial investigation, the purported victim was unable to identify Pontoo as the suspect. Pontoo took the stand in his own defense and claimed that he was not the person who committed the armed robbery. Though he admitted to driving the car that was involved in the failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death charge, Pontoo testified that he was driving the car under duress.

At the conclusion of the State's case-in chief, as well as at the conclusion of Pontoo's testimony, the defense attorney moved for a directed verdict on both counts. The trial judge denied those motions. At the conclusion of all testimony, the State and the defense attorney conferred with the trial court judge on the matter of, *inter alia*, jury instructions. The defense attorney requested a charge that the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the absence of duress. The trial judge ruled,

at the urging of the State, that the proper standard for determining the burden of proof for a duress defense is controlled by *Dixon v. United States*, 548 U.S. 1 (2006). *Dixon* stands for the proposition that unless the affirmative defense negates an element of the crime, affirmative defenses such as duress must be proved by the defense by a preponderance of the evidence. Over the objection of the defense attorney, the trial judge instructed the jury under the *Dixon* standard.

After closing arguments, the trial judge charged the jury. Following approximately two hours of deliberation, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on each of Pontoo's indictments. The defense attorney moved for a new trial based on prior motions and objections lodged. The trial judge acknowledged the defense request for a new trial, but ruled that the verdict was consistent with the evidence that was presented and denied the motion. This appeal was timely filed to seek review of the trial court's rulings.

This appeal remained at the Office of Indigent Defense until being assigned to the Appellant Practice Project. After being assigned to the Appellant Practice Project attorney, there was one additional request for an extension to file this appeal, which was then due on January 11, 2016. The request for extension was unopposed by the State, and was granted with a new due date of February 10, 2016.

FACTS

On the evening of January 23, 2014, appellant Raphael Pontoo was at a nightclub known as The Rock, in Lexington County, South Carolina. (R. p. 79, lines 6-8). Also at the club that night was Jonathan Ruple. (R. p. 79, lines 12-16). Pontoo was with a group of four other people, among them, Alexander Kewon Clemmons.

(R. p. 79, lines 5-17). At some point in the evening, Ruple and Pontoo met in the parking lot of the club. Each had a handgun, and each displayed their handgun to the other. (R. p. 81, lines 1-13). Shortly afterwards they returned to the club. Ruple claims that when he left the club that night, Pontoo robbed him at gunpoint in the parking lot of the club, and took the bag containing the weapon Ruple had previously shown Pontoo. (R. p. 82, lines 18-23). Ruple contends that after the robbery, Pontoo left in a vehicle along with the other four people that accompanied Pontoo that evening. (R. p. 83, lines 6-8). As the car departed the parking lot of the club, Ruple got a partial tag number from the car, and called 911, telling them that he had been robbed in the parking lot of the club. (R. p. 83, lines 9-17).

Pontoo denies having robbed Mr. Ruple. (R. p. 377, lines 2-16). Instead he claims that two people who accompanied him that evening, Alexander Clemmons and Patrick Johnson, entered the car before it departed the parking lot, carrying a bag taken from Mr. Ruple. (R. p. 333, lines 1-11). Pontoo testified that the bag contained the weapon that Ruple had displayed in the parking lot, a nine millimeter pistol. (R. p. 333, lines 9-14).

On that evening, State Trooper Brandon Lee received a "be on the lookout," or BOLO, for the car described by Mr. Ruple in his call to 911. (R. p. 91, lines 5-11). Lee eventually located the car, and after being joined by backup from a Lieutenant Bennett from the Swansea Police Department, initiated a traffic stop. (R. p. 92 line 12-p. 96, line 24). The car pulled over immediately when Lee activated his blue lights. (R. p. 96, lines 15-20). Lee drew his weapon and ordered the occupants out of the vehicle one at a time. (R. p. 97, lines 2-11). The left rear door opened when

Lee commanded the driver's door to be opened. Lee had to tell the passenger seated by the left rear door to shut it so that he could concentrate on the driver. (R. p. 97, lines 17-22). According to the testimony, Pontoo was seated in the rear seat behind the driver. (R. p. 277, lines 7-10). Subsequently, Lee individually ordered the driver, the front seat passenger, and the person seated behind the front seat passenger, to exit the vehicle, to remove their outer garments, and to walk towards Lee so they could be handcuffed. (R. p. 98, line 7- p. 99, line 6).

While the right rear door was still open from the exit of the passenger seated next to it, the car began to drive away. (R. p. 99, lines 12-23). Lee had been joined by Trooper Jason Snider, who pulled to the rear of Lee's vehicle. (R. p. 108, lines 2-17). Snider observed someone in the stopped vehicle jump into the driver's seat jump before it began to drive away. Snider began to pursue the departing vehicle with his blue lights on. (R. p. 108, lines 16-24).

After a high speed pursuit, the fleeing vehicle departed the roadway and crashed into trees. (R. p. 110, line 11-p. 111, line 15). When Snider reached the crashed vehicle, he saw the driver and one other passenger. He identified the driver as Pontoo. (R. p. 112, line 11- p. 114, line 1). A weapon, a nine millimeter handgun, was retrieved from the front passenger seat of the vehicle. (R. p. 133, line 4- p. 134, line 18). It appeared that the vehicle had flipped over during the collision. (R. p. 117, line 18-19). The rear seat passenger was identified as Alexander Clemmons. (R. p. 155, lines 5-10). Clemmons had been unrestrained at the time of the accident. (R. p. 197, lines 17-18). As he was being prepared for transport by helicopter for medical treatment, EMS personnel found a handgun in Clemmons' possession. (R. p.

157, lines 2-9). On January 27, 2014, Clemmons died from injuries sustained in the accident. (R. p. 197, lines 20-21).

Following the accident, Pontoo was transported to Palmetto Health Richland for treatment. (R. p. 204, lines 13-16). Detective Todd Garrick was the lead investigator with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department and the person responsible for obtaining armed robbery arrest warrants in the case. (R. p. 13, lines 6-20). He interviewed Pontoo in an emergency room on the morning of January 24, 2014. (R. p. 16, lines 1-22). He claimed Pontoo was not under arrest at the time. (R. p. 16, lines 23-25). Nonetheless, he claims he administered *Miranda* warnings to Pontoo. (R. p. 7, line 19 - p. 18, line 10). Pontoo denies he was read his *Miranda* rights. (R. p. 62, lines 12-23). Garrick admitted that he put a "hold" on Pontoo so that the Sheriff's Department would be notified before Pontoo was released from the hospital. (R. p. 21, lines 7-13). When questioned, Pontoo refused to answer questions and repeatedly asked why he was being questioned. Pontoo eventually stated he was "through" talking to Garrick. (R. p. 22, lines 3-12). Garrick obtained arrest warrants for Pontoo on January 28, 2014. (R. p. 214, lines 8-9). On January 29, 2014, when the hospital discharged Pontoo, Garrick picked up Pontoo from the hospital and transported him to the detention center. (R. p. 22, lines 13-17).

Garrick also interviewed the robbery victim in the matter, Jonathan Ruple, on January 27, 2014. He showed Ruple a photo array consisting of photos of various individuals to determine if Ruple could pick out the man who robbed him from the lineup. (R. p. 49, lines 1-6). From the lineup, Mr. Ruple narrowed down the suspect to two people, but could not narrow it down to one. (R. p. 49, lines 12-25). He was

shown two separate but identical photo arrays, and on each one, circled the suspect labelled number two and wrote "50%" beside the circle. (R. p. 50, lines 16-22). When asked why he wrote "50%" by the circle, Ruple stated he could not decide whether the suspect was number two or number four. (R. p. 50, line 23-p. 51, line 3). Ruple claimed that he would have been able to distinguish number two from number four if he had been shown a color photograph. (R. p. 51, lines 4-6). Garrick never assembled a color lineup for Ruple to view. (R. p. 60, lines 15-18). Ruple claimed that he had never seen a photo of the person arrested for the armed robbery, nor seen him in person. (R. p. 51, lines 11-16).

The person that Ruple circled in the photo array was not Pontoo. Pontoo was number four in the photo array. (R. p. 60, lines 7-13). Despite the fact that Ruple did not identify Pontoo as the robber on either photo array, the trial court permitted Ruple to identify Pontoo, who was seated at the defense table, to be identified as the one that robbed Ruple. (R. p. 51, lines 17-22). Though he could not positively identify Pontoo three days after the event, Ruple testified that after the passage of over a year, he was one hundred percent certain that Pontoo was the person that robbed him. (R. p. 51, lines 23-24). The defense attorney objected to permitting the identification, alleging the demonstration was suggestive. (R. p. 64, lines 7-20). The State admitted that Ruple picked the wrong person in the photo array. (R. p. 64, lines 22-25).

Pontoo took the stand in his own defense. He admitted that he was driving the car, but said that Clemmons forced him to do so at gunpoint. (R. p. 334, line 25 - p. 335, line 21). He claims the last thing he remembers is that Clemmons reached up

and grabbed the wheel. (R. p. 335, line 25 - p. 336, line 2). Over the defense attorney's objection, the State questioned Pontoo extensively regarding his unwillingness to tell this version of the story to Garrick on January 24, 2014. (R. p. 374, line 14 - p. 375 line 17).

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Judge's Jury Instructions Improperly Placed the Burden of Proof for the Duress Defense on the Appellant

- a. In a Criminal Case, the Burden of Proof is on the State to Prove Every Element of the Crime Beyond a Reasonable Doubt

While this proposition is fundamental, it is critical. "A basic principle of criminal law is that the State has the burden of proof as to all of the essential elements of the crime." *State v. Attardo*, 263 S.C. 546, 550, 211 S.E.2d 868, 870 (1975). Additionally, there must be credible evidence for each element of the crime charged. *State v. Smith*, 274 S.C. 622, 623, 266 S.E.2d 422, 423 (1980). This evidence must be provided by salient and admissible facts. The facts required to prove a statutory crime are delineated in the text of the enacted law. "[I]n determining what facts must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt the state legislature's definition of the elements of the offense is usually dispositive" *McMillan v. Pennsylvania*, 477 U.S. 79, 85, 106 S. Ct. 2411, 2415, 91 L. Ed. 2d 67 (1986)(internal citations omitted). In sum, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt every fact that the legislature has chosen to include as an element of the statute. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 361, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 1071, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). Each element of a crime is of equal

weight, and no element is more important than another. *United States v. Jordan*, 509 F.3d 191, 198 (4th Cir. 2007).

b. Normally the State Need Not Carry the Burden of Proof for Affirmative Defenses

The exception to the rule that the State must carry the burden of proof in criminal cases lies in the proof of affirmative defenses. Traditionally, the burden is on the **defendant** to prove an affirmative defense by a preponderance of the evidence. “[A]t common law, the burden of proving affirmative defenses—indeed, all circumstances of justification, excuse or alleviation, rested on the defendant.” *Dixon v. United States*, 548 U.S. 1, 8, 126 S. Ct. 2437, 2443, 165 L. Ed. 2d 299 (2006). The South Carolina Supreme Court has determined that normally, the defendant must prove the affirmative defense of duress by a preponderance of the evidence, adopting the rationale of *Dixon*. See *State v. New*, 371 S.C. 523, 527, 640 S.E.2d 871, 873 (2007).

c. There is an Exception to the Requirement for the Defendant to Prove Affirmative Defense

If the affirmative defense negates an element of the crime, the burden rests with the State to disprove the existence of the affirmative defense. The reason for this is because, “[I]t would be an extreme inconsistency to consider an element of the crime as an affirmative defense, for where the crime is not proven there is no need for defenses.” *Attardo*, 263 S.C. 551-52, 211 S.E.2d 868, 870 (1975)(citation omitted). Therefore, if a statutory element of the crime is implicated by the

affirmative defense, it is the burden of the State to disprove the existence of the affirmative defense beyond a reasonable doubt.

d. The Trial Judge's Jury Instruction Erroneously Allocated the Burden of Proof

Pontoo was convicted of Failure to Stop for a Blue Light Resulting in Death, in contravention of S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-750 (1976). Subsection (a) of this statute contains the elements of the crime as enacted by the legislature.¹ The statute includes as elements, 1) in the absence of mitigating circumstances; 2) defendant drove a motor vehicle on a road, street or highway; 3) defendant was signaled to stop by law enforcement; and 4) defendant did not stop. The jury instruction given by the trial judge did not list the absence of mitigating circumstances as an element of the crime, and neither the State nor the defense attorney took exception to this instruction. (R. p. 415, lines 17-24).

Pontoo took the stand and asserted the affirmative defense of duress, because of his allegation that Clemmons forced him to drive car at gunpoint. Subsequently, at the jury charge conference, Pontoo's counsel suggested a jury instruction that, though not in the record, apparently placed the burden of proof on the State to disprove the defense of duress. (R. p. 389, line 23- p. 391, line 13). The

¹ (A) In the absence of mitigating circumstances, it is unlawful for a motor vehicle driver, while driving on a road, street, or highway of the State, to fail to stop when signaled by a law enforcement vehicle by means of a siren or flashing light. An attempt to increase the speed of a vehicle or in other manner avoid the pursuing law enforcement vehicle when signaled by a siren or flashing light is prima facie evidence of a violation of this section. Failure to see the flashing light or hear the siren does not excuse a failure to stop when the distance between the vehicles and other road conditions are such that it would be reasonable for a driver to hear or see the signals from the law enforcement vehicle.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-750 (1976)

State objected and suggested that under the auspices of *Dixon v. United States*, 548 U.S. 1 (2006), the proper instruction would place the burden on Pontoo to prove his affirmative defense by a preponderance of the evidence. (R. p. 391, lines 2-4). The defense attorney lodged a timely objection to the instruction. (R. p. 391, line 22-392, line 3; p. 420, line 23 - p. 421, line 3.) The trial court agreed with the State and gave the following instruction, over the defense counsel's objection: "The defendant must prove the affirmative defense of duress by a preponderance or greater weight of the evidence." (R. p. 418, lines 17-19).

"In general, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina, and the law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence at trial. To warrant reversal, a trial judge's charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial. *State v. Taylor*, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2003)(internal citations omitted). In this matter, the judge failed to charge the current and correct law. He failed to properly charge the violation of Failure to Stop for a Blue Light, because he failed to charge the first element of the crime. There were no objections raised to this error. He also erroneously placed the burden on the defendant to prove duress by a preponderance of the evidence, to which the defense attorney lodged a timely and proper objection. "The State is foreclosed from shifting the burden of proof to the defendant . . . when an affirmative defense *does* negate an element of the crime." *Smith v. United States*, 133 S. Ct. 714, 719, 184 L. Ed. 2d 570 (2013)(internal citations omitted). Though not charged, the "absence of mitigating circumstances" is still an element of the crime, and placing the burden on Pontoo instead of the State regarding the duress defense was impermissible and prejudicial.

Therefore, Pontoo's conviction should be overturned, and the case remanded for a new trial.

II. The Trial Judge Erroneously Allowed the State to Impeach the Appellant with Post Miranda Silence

a. *Miranda* Warnings Protect a Defendant's Silence

The right of a defendant accused of a crime to remain silent is enshrined in the seminal case of *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). As a corollary to the protections offered by *Miranda*, it is impermissible to impeach a testifying defendant with post-*Miranda* silence. This is because silence induced pursuant to *Miranda* creates an expectation of reliance on the defendant's part that silence will not be used as a weapon against him. "[W]hile it is true that the *Miranda* warnings contain no express assurance that silence will carry no penalty, such assurance is implicit to any person who receives the warnings." *Doyle v. Ohio*, 426 U.S. 610, 618, 96 S. Ct. 2240, 2245, 49 L. Ed. 2d 91 (1976).

b. Custodial Status is Irrelevant Once *Miranda* Warnings Are Given and Invoked.

Miranda protections generally attach when a defendant is in custody. "[I]t is impermissible to penalize an individual for exercising his Fifth Amendment privilege when he is under police custodial interrogation. The prosecution may not, therefore, use at trial the fact that he stood mute or claimed his privilege in the face of accusation." *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 468, fn 37.

More broadly, even for a suspect that is **not** in custody, once the warnings are given by the police and invoked by the suspect (pre-arrest but post-*Miranda*

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