**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lexington County  
Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2015-000323

---

RECEIVED

AUG 29 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

RAPHAEL LAMARR PONTOO,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DONALD V. MYERS  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street  
Lexington Judicial Center  
Lexington, SC 29072  
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

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

not rest on any implied assurance by law enforcement authorities that it will carry no penalty.” (citations omitted)); Fletcher v. Weir, 455 U.S. 603, 607 (1982) (“In the absence of the sort of affirmative assurances embodied in the Miranda warnings, we do not believe that it violates due process of law for a State to permit crossexamination as to postarrest silence when a defendant chooses to take the stand.”). Accordingly, in light of fact defense counsel’s objection was not sufficiently specific and raised on a ground distinct from the ground implicated by a Doyle violation, Appellant’s appellate challenge to the solicitor’s cross-examination is not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot now appropriately be considered or addressed on appeal. See Prioleau, 345 S.C. at 411, 548 S.E.2d at 216 (instructing an objection must be sufficiently specific such that it can reasonably be understood by the trial judge); Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal.”); cf. State v. Thomas, 159 S.C. 76, 83, 156 S.E. 169, 171 (1930) (“Counsel for the defendant interposed with what may be liberally construed as a general objection to the admission of this testimony on the ground of irrelevancy. The objection did not set forth the specific grounds contained in the exception, and these grounds, therefore, cannot be considered.”). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

**B. Propriety of the Solicitor’s Cross-Examination of Appellant**

Ordinarily, when circumstances exist that would naturally lead a defendant to reveal a pertinent fact but the defendant fails to do so, it is proper to question the defendant about his failure to reveal the pertinent fact when an opportunity existed to do otherwise because such a failure can be probative towards issues such as fabrication and credibility. See Jenkins v. Anderson, 447 U.S. 231, 239 (1980) (“Common law traditionally has allowed witnesses to be impeached by their previous failure to state a fact in circumstances in which that fact naturally

would have been asserted.”); see also Brecht, 507 U.S. at 628 (recognizing silence can be probative while noting “if the shooting was an accident, petitioner had every reason – including to clear his name and preserve evidence supporting his version of the events – to offer his account immediately following the shooting”). However, when the defendant’s silence follows the giving of Miranda warnings, such silence loses its probative force due to the fact “[s]ilence in the wake of [those] warnings may be nothing more than the [defendant]’s exercise of [those] Miranda rights.” Doyle, 426 U.S. at 617. Accordingly, the use of a defendant’s post-Miranda silence for impeachment purposes is improper and constitutes a violation of the defendant’s due process rights. Id. at 619. “The obvious purpose [of that prohibition] is to try to prevent jurors from improperly inferring the accused is guilty simply because he exercised rights guaranteed him by the state and federal constitutions.” Edmond v. State, 341 S.C. 340, 346, 534 S.E.2d 682, 685 (2000); see Wainwright v. Greenfield, 474 U.S. 284, 292 (1986) (“The point of the Doyle holding is that it is fundamentally unfair to promise an arrested person that his silence will not be used against him and thereafter to breach that promise by using the silence to impeach his trial testimony.”).

Importantly though, even when Miranda warnings have been given to a defendant, it is **not** improper for a solicitor to cross-examine a defendant who elects to testify during trial about any prior inconsistent statements he may have made. See Anderson v. Charles, 447 U.S. 404, 408 (1980) (“Doyle bars the use against a criminal defendant of silence maintained after receipt of governmental assurances. But Doyle does not apply to cross-examination that merely inquires into prior inconsistent statements.”); see State v. Simmons, 360 S.C. 33, 39, 599 S.E.2d 448, 451 (2004) (“Doyle does not . . . create a per se rule requiring exclusion from evidence of a defendant’s post-arrest, post-Miranda silence in all circumstances.”). Critically, “[s]uch

questioning makes no unfair use of silence because a defendant who voluntarily speaks after receiving Miranda warnings has not been induced to remain silent.” Anderson, 447 U.S. at 408. In fact, “[a]s to the subject matter of his statements, the defendant has not remained silent at all.” Id.; see State v. Kimsey, 320 S.C. 344, 346, 465 S.E.2d 128, 130 (Ct. App. 1995) (“[A] defendant who voluntarily speaks after being given Miranda warnings has not heeded the admonitions of the government and has not in any way relied on governmental assurances, but to the contrary, has chosen not to remain silent.”).

In the case sub judice, testimony was presented during an in camera hearing establishing Appellant was informed of his rights at the hospital following the crash, agreed to speak with Detective Garrick, and informed the officer he did not know or remember anything about the incident. Subsequently, during the evidentiary phase of trial, Appellant waived his right to remain silent and elected to testify in his own defense. Thereafter, Appellant readily admitted to the jury he fled from the pursuing law enforcement officers in the getaway vehicle involved in the fatal crash while asserting he only did so because he was acting under duress. See Simmons, 360 S.C. at 40, 599 S.E.2d at 451 (“The underpinnings of Doyle, and the need for its application, are diminished where a defendant waives his right to silence. Here, Simmons did not remain silent ‘as to the subject matter of his statements.’”). Thus, through his trial testimony, Appellant asserted to the jury he **remembered** and explicitly **knew** what happened in regard to the incident, which directly contradicted the statements he allegedly made to Detective Garrick at the hospital.

Significantly, because Appellant’s prior statements directly contradicted his trial testimony regarding his duress defense, it was entirely appropriate for the solicitor to cross-examine Appellant about that contradiction, including by asking Appellant why he failed to tell

Detective Garrick about how he was acting in duress when he fled from the pursuing officers, and to introduce Detective Garrick's testimony about Appellant's earlier inconsistent post-Miranda statements. See Kimsey, 320 S.C. at 346, 465 S.E.2d at 130 ("When the defendant gives a different version of his involvement in the offense at trial, Doyle does not apply. Cross-examination at that point does not make unfair use of silence, but merely inquires into prior inconsistent statements occasioned by the defendant not remaining silent at all."). Moreover, such questioning did **not** violate Appellant's constitutional rights and did **not** constitute an improper comment on his post-Miranda silence under the circumstances as it merely constituted proper and permissible impeachment with his prior inconsistent statements. Cf. Anderson, 447 U.S. at 408-409 ("We do not believe that the cross-examination in this case can be bifurcated so neatly. The quoted colloquy, taken as a whole, does not refer to the respondent's exercise of his right to remain silent; rather it asks the respondent why, if his trial testimony were true, he didn't tell the officer that he stole the decedent's car from the tire store parking lot instead of telling him that he took it from the street. . . . The questions were not designed to draw meaning from silence, but to elicit an explanation for a prior inconsistent statement." (brackets, citation, and internal quotations omitted)). Accordingly, notwithstanding the fact Appellant wholly failed to preserve the issue for appellate review, the trial judge committed no error in permitting the solicitor to cross-examine Appellant in regard to the inconsistencies between his trial testimony and earlier statements to Detective Garrick.<sup>11</sup> See Kimsey, 320 S.C. at 346, 465 S.E.2d at 130

---

<sup>11</sup> Moreover, even assuming arguendo the solicitor's questioning of Appellant constituted an improper comment on his post-Miranda silence, any error was entirely harmless under the unique circumstances of Appellant's case because the testimony elicited by the solicitor's questions had **already** been presented to the jury by Appellant himself. Specifically, before the solicitor asked the question Appellant now contends constituted a Doyle violation, the solicitor asked Appellant if he remembered talking to Detective Garrick at the hospital after the incident. (R. p. 374). In response, Appellant stated: "He came in and I stated I didn't want to talk to him." (R. p. 374). Thus, through that response, Appellant – without objection – communicated to the jury he had an opportunity to reveal his duress defense earlier but specifically chose not to do so. As a result, the solicitor's subsequent question eliciting identical information was entirely cumulative to the information Appellant already presented to the jury, and, as a

("[I]n this case, Kimsey's testimony at trial was inconsistent with the testimony of Kimsey's confession. Thus, the trial court properly permitted the State to cross-examine Kimsey on the inconsistent statements.").

---

result, any error that could have potentially resulted from the solicitor's question was entirely harmless under the unique circumstances of Appellant's case. See State v. McFarlane, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983) ("It is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence."); State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) ("Under settled principles, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence."); see also State v. Truesdale, 285 S.C. 13, 17, 328 S.E.2d 53, 56 (1984) ("When such a violation occurs, the question remains, however, whether it is cause for reversal or is harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt."), rev'd on other grounds by Truesdale v. Aiken, 480 U.S. 527 (1989); State v. Weaver, 361 S.C. 73, 89, 602 S.E.2d 786, 794 (Ct. App. 2004) ("[A]lthough it is improper for the solicitor to indirectly comment on a defendant's failure to testify, such comments do not necessarily mandate reversal of a conviction. Indeed, a criminal defendant is entitled to a fair trial, not a perfect one."); see generally State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) ("No definite rule of law governs this finding [of harmlessness]; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.").

### III.

**Appellant's appellate issue with the admission of the in-court identification evidence is not properly preserved for appellate review because the argument Appellant is now raising on appeal was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial judge and is markedly different from the argument defense counsel made during trial when objecting to the admission of any identification evidence. However, notwithstanding any issue preservation concerns, the trial judge properly admitted both the out-of-court and in-court identification evidence during Appellant's trial because the out-of-court identification procedure employed in Appellant's case was not unduly suggestive and did not create a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification and the in-court identification of Appellant as the robber was not the product of any out-of-court suggestiveness and, instead, was based on the armed robbery victim's observations of Appellant prior to and during the crime.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in admitting Ruple's in-court identification of Appellant as the man who robbed him. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the circumstances surrounding the in-court identification were unduly suggestive and the identification process as a whole violated his constitutional rights. Initially, to the extent Appellant is challenging the identification evidence based on the alleged suggestiveness of the circumstances surrounding the in-court identification, that issue and argument is not properly preserved for appellate review because it was never raised to or ruled upon by the trial judge. However, even if Appellant's appellate argument was somehow preserved for appellate review, the trial judge committed no error in admitting either the out-of-court or in-court identification evidence during Appellant's trial because the out-of-court photographic lineup procedure employed in Appellant's case was neither unduly suggestive nor created a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification and Ruple's in-court identification of Appellant as the armed robber was based on his own observations of the robber prior to and during the crime as opposed to being based on the out-of-court identification procedure. Accordingly, the trial judge properly allowed for all the identification evidence to be admitted during Appellant's trial and presented to the jury. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

### A. Issue Preservation

Amongst the requirements for preserving an issue for appeal in South Carolina, the most basic and fundamental requirement is that an issue must be raised to **and** ruled upon by a trial judge before it can be properly presented for appellate review. See Dunbar, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 693 (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.”); see also State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996) (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court. If the issue is raised but not ruled on, it is not preserved for appeal.”). Moreover, even if an issue is raised during trial, an appellant cannot properly raise new arguments in support of that issue on appeal and, instead, is limited solely to raising the arguments presented to the trial judge during trial. See State v. Tucker, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995) (finding an appellate argument to be procedurally barred while instructing a party cannot argue one ground during trial and another ground on appeal); see also Patterson, 324 S.C. at 19, 482 S.E.2d at 767 (recognizing an appellant is limited on appeal solely to the grounds raised at trial); State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974) (“Only matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed[.]”).

In the case at bar, Appellant contends on appeal the circumstances surrounding the in-court identification of him as the armed robber were unduly suggestive and amounted to a single-person show-up arranged by the solicitor and seeks a reversal of his convictions on that basis. However, during trial, defense counsel did not raise such an argument. Instead, defense counsel sought the suppression of any out-of-court and in-court identification evidence based on the allegedly suggestive nature of the photographic lineup procedure conducted in Appellant’s case. Significantly, defense counsel did **not** challenge the admissibility of Ruple’s in-court

identification of Appellant based on the alleged suggestiveness of the circumstances surrounding that identification and, in fact, did not even renew his general pre-trial objection to the identification evidence when Ruple identified Appellant before the jury as the armed robber. See State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 646, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012) (“A ruling in limine is not final; unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling procured, the issue is not preserved for review.”). Accordingly, because the argument Appellant is raising on appeal was neither presented to nor ruled upon by the trial judge, that argument is procedurally barred and cannot properly be raised or considered for the first time on appeal. See Rogers, 361 S.C. at 183, 603 S.E.2d at 912-913 (explaining an issue must be raised by the appellant in a timely manner with sufficient specificity and ruled upon by the trial judge in order to be preserved for appellate review); see also Bailey, 298 S.C. at 5, 377 S.E.2d at 584 (instructing a party cannot raise one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

#### **B. Admissibility of the Identification Evidence**

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